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Abstract

This report presents the results of a stakeholder mapping exercise carried
out inthe WaterPower projectThe mappingvasconducted for thefollow-

ing mainresearch areas of the pject: water supply, land use planning and
management, wetland management and climate change adaptatisaster

risk reduction. The report gives an overviewtlod stakeholders that play a
role in theserespectiveareas and identifiethose whohaveconcanitant re-
sponsibilities irdifferent sectors.lt represents the first step towards further
involvement of stakeholdeiin the WaterPower project.
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1. Introduction

This report presents the results of a stakeholder mapping exercise carried
out as part othe WaterPower projectcovering he main stakeholdersf the

four majorresearch areas of the projeatater supply, land use planning and
management, wetland management agtimate ChangeAdaptation' Disas-

ter Risk ReductiofCCA/DDRY heseresearch areas correspond wite four

key policydomains that play a relevant role in watend urban governance

in the context of the Greater Accra Metropolitan Area (GAMAgure 1).

The stakeholder mappinfiystly gives an overview\er the relevant stake-
holders in each sector, then outlines their roles and responsibilities, and
eventually identifies actors that have concomitant responsibilitiediffer-

ent sectors.An especially designdchmeworkillustratesthe multiple stake-
holders present in the respective sectors. hhare grouped accordingp
their level of operationi.e.at national/regional or district/local level.

The stakeholder mappingesults are
based ondesk study anddata col-
lected during field visits in Accra be-
tween 2015and 2016.Reviewingel- Water Supply mancscment
evant policies, legislation and other

documents contributed to categoriz-
ing key stakeholders and their roles
and responsibilities in relation to Cimate Change
each sector. Interviews withtake- sl el
holders provided further insighisto

the organization of each sector.

Given the transdisciplinary approach Figure1 ¢ Research areas in WaterPow
employed withinthe WaterPower pro-

ject, this mapping contributes to set # stage for further involvement of
stakeholders in the research project. Indeed, it represents the first step to-
wardsidentifying stakeholders relevant for the goroduction of knowledge
and the cainterpretation of results.

In thefollowing, the key featiresof the organization of each sector are de-
scribed followed by a visualization of the major stakeholders per sector. Fur-
ther details about the roles and responsibilities of the stakeholders are pre-
sented in the appendix. The report concludes with aegnated chart de-
picting all four investigated sectors and the respective stakeholders. In par-
ticular, it illuminates actors that have responsibilities in multiple sectors.
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2. Administrative organization

Administratively Ghana is organized into three levdlse national, regional
and local level. Athe national levelministries are responsible for policy for-
mulation and coordination within specific sectors. Regional coordinating
councils and Metropolitan, Municipal ardistrict Assemblies (MMDAS) are
present ata decentralized level responsible for the overall administration
and coordination within their regional and district boundaries. The following
table gives an overview over these differeninainistrative levels itGhana.

Level Name

Tablel - Administrative organization Ghana.

Functiors and Responsibilities

National Ministries

Regional | Regional co-
ordinating
councils

Local Metropolitan
or Municipal
or District As-

semblies
(MMDASs)

Overall policy formulation, coordination and planning. Eihistry is organized ir
directorates each overseeing particularaspect

Relevantministries for urban governance and water governance: Mipi&ir Fi-
nance and Economic Planning; Minydor Food and Agriculture; Ministifor Local
Government and Rural Development; Minjsfor Lands ad Natural Resources
Ministry for Environment, Science and Technology; Migiftr Water Resources
Works and Housing; Minister for Chieftaincy and Culture.

Regionalcoordinating councik were established by the lcal Government Act
1993 (Act 462) and by the National Development Planning Commission Act
(Act 479. They are administrative and coomdiion bodies athe regional level.
Among other activities, they for instanbave” t 0 mo nordinaterandevalw
ate the performance of the Di,Settionild2s
Article 1a,). They are established in each of theelfians of the country (Act 462

Regions Greater Accra Region, Central Region, Eastern Region, Northern,R
Upper East Region, Upper West Region, Ashanti Region, Brong Ahafo Regio
Region.

Metropolitan or Municipal or District Assembli@dMDAs)are the fulcrum of local
goverrance inGhana They are responsible for the overall development, plann
and coordination of activities within their boundarjéacluding amongst others,
water and sanitation services, environmental protection, economic developm
transport, revenue collectio. MMDASs are organized in departmente. Physical
Planning Department, Health Department, Social Welfare and Community C
opment Department, Disaster Prevention Department, Works Department ktc
addition to decentralized MMDAs, sutistrict units are present ahe local level
operating as subordinateto the MMDAs These arenamely District Urban anc
Zonal Councils.

MMDAs are defined on the basis of demographic conditions and settlentan (
acteristics:
1 A Metropolitan Assembly is a Local Government unit or areasayitipula-
tion of over 250,000.
1 A Municipal Assembly is a one town assembly withopulation of over
95,000
1 A District Assembly is a group settlement with a minimum popatadf
75,000 and a maximum of 95,000.

The Greater Accra Metropolitan Area (GAMA) consist of 12 MMisksely: Ga
Accra Metropolitan Area, Ga West Municipal, Ga East Municipal, Ga Central N
ipal, La Nkwantananiyladina Municipal, Adenta Municipal, GauffloMunicipal, La
DadeKotopon Municipal, Ledzokukdrowor Municipal, Tema Metropolitan Are:
Ashaiman Municipal and Kpong Katamaso District.

SourcesGoG. 1993, Local Government Act, Act;4B2edich-EbertStiftung Ghana (20117 guide to district

asemblies in Ghana.
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3. Water Supply

The Water Directorate under the Ministry of Water Works and Housing
(MWWH) is in charge of overall policy formulation and coordination in rela-
tion to the water sector in Ghana. The Water Resource Commission (WRC),
the Community Water Sanitation Agency (G\W&nd Ghana Water Company
Limited (GWCL) operate under the guidance of the MWWH. The VéR&-is
seesthe overall management of water resources in the countrigh partic-
ularattentionto surface and groundwater use and abstraction. The WRC op-
erates atthe local level through decentralized river basin officesabished

in major river basinsTheGWCL is the national water utility responsible for
water supply in major urban centres. Meanwhibe national agencyCWSA

and Water and Sanitation Teams estabéd ata decentralized level within
MMDAsfacilitate water supply in rural areas and in small towns. In rural and
peri-urban areasWater and Sanitation Boarasanagedecentralized water
supply system# cooperation with WATSAN Committees. The PubligyJti
Regulatory Commission (PURC) is an independent agency in charge of the
regulation of public utilities including performance monitoring, water tariff
setting and quality monitoring. The Ghana Standard Board is in charge of set-
ting quality standards fodrinking water. In the context of GAMA, other wa-

ter providersbhesides GWClare present at local leveincluding water ven-
dors, mobile water providers and two other actors involved in the manage-
ment of water kiosks (Safe Water Network and Water Health). A wide range
of NGOsreinvolved in WASH projects tite local level andvork under an
umbrella organiation (CONIWAS).

WATER SUPPLY

Ministry of Water, Works and Housing

WRC
Decentralized
River Basin
Offices

CWSA
Regional
Offices

*  CONIWAS
and other
NGOs.

* Development

- rt
Water Providers (PRI

aand Safe Water

Sanitation Network Water Mobile Water
Water and Boards/WATS ’ Vendors Providers
" Water Health
Sanitation Team AN

Water users

Figure2: Overview of the main stakeholders involved in the water supply sector in GAMA.
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4. Land use planning and management

In Ghanaland use planning and the management of land is charactekiged

a complex configuration of statutory and customary stakeholders. The man-
agement of land is, pesonstitution, the responsibility fostate agencies such

as the Lands Commission but also the responsibilityistomary land custo-
dians such as chiefa3¥hereasthe former manage public land and land that

is vested in the Presidenthe latter manage customary land (so caltstbol

and family land) in conjunctionwith the elders

State authorities such as the National Development Planning Commission
and the Town and Country Planning Departm@i€PD)including the units

at the district levelare responsible for land use plannirigowever, as cus-
tomary land compriseapproximately80% of the land in Ghanaystomary

land custodiangre also relevant for land use planning as they lease land to
individual developers. A common phenomenothiast land leases and devel-
opments takes place befre the official land use planning $ilaeen carried

out. Communitiesincludingcustomary land custodianare also formally in-
volved in the development of local plans and thugirethe land use plan-

ning onthe local level.

LAND USE PLANNING & MANAGEMENT

Ministry of
Environment, Science,
Technology and
Innovations

Ministry of
Local Government and
Rural Development

Ministry of
Chieftaincy and
Traditional Affairs

Ministry of
Lands and Natural
Resources

National

National/Regional

District/Local

Urban
Development Unit

Town and Country
Planning
Department
(Regional Offices)

National House of
Chiefs (Regional
Houses)

Lands Commission
(Regional Units)

Customary
Land Customary Land
Custodians (i.e. Secreteriat
Chiefs)

Development
Planning
Commission

Ghana Institute of
Planners

Ghana Institute of
Surveyors

Ghana Real Estate
Developers
Associates (GREDA)
NGOs and
Development
partners

Land users

Figure3: Overview of the main stakeholders involved in land use planning and management.
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5. Wetland management

The Wildlife Division of the Forestry Commission under the Ministry of Lands
and Natural Resources is the major stakeholageWetland management.

The Division is responsible for the management of proteeateds in Ghana
including fivewetlands designated as Wetlands of International Importance
under the Ramsar Convention. These include three coastal lagoons located
in GAMA: [enau delta, Sakumonacand SongarThe National Wetland Com-
mittee supports the Wildlife Division in the implementation of the Wetland
Strategy and Action Plan of Ghana.

Other stakeholderselated to wetland managemeninclude the Water Re-
source Commissigmesponsible for the overall water resource management
in Ghanathe Town and Country Planning Departmeintcharge of spatial
planning and urban developmerand the Environmental Protection Agency
whose mandatét is to manage natural resourc@sorder to ensue no pol-
lution.

WETLANDS MANAGEMENT

Ministry of Water, Works and Ministry of Environment, Science, Ministry of Lands and Natural
Housing Technology and Innovation Resources

National
Environmental Town and Wetland
Protection Country Committee

Agency Planning Wildlife Division

River Basin Offices

* Center for
African Wetlands

* Ghana Wildlife
Society

* NGOs

+ Development
Partners

Customary Land Custodians
(i.e. Chiefs)

Wetland users

Figure4: Overview of the main stakeholders involved in wetland management.
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6. Climate Change Agdation and Disaster Risk Rediien

A wide range of stakeholdeaseinvolved in the development of policies and
strategiesfor Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Redu@igR)

in GhanaThe two leading organizations responsible for the development
and monitoring of climate changedaptationpolicies arghe Ministry of En-
vironment, Science, Technology and Innovat{dESTI) and its subsidiary
body, the Environmental Protection Agency (ERA2008, the MESTI estab-
lished the National Climate Change Committee (NA€€)14, Ghana offi-
cially launched its Nation&llimate Changediicy (NCCP), whiclvasthe out-

come ofan official stakeholder consultatio@ther ministriesand agencies
involved in adaptation policy implementation and planning g@mongst
others) the Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (MOHREBER)Na-
tional Development Planning Commission (NDPC), the Ministry of Local Gov-
ernment, Rural Development and Environment (MLGRDE), the Ministry of
Food and Agriculture (MOFA), the Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources,
the Ghana Meteorological Agendgi{let), and the Ministry of Health.

The main responsibilitfor DRRactivitiesand disaster risknanagement at
the national, regional and local lewdies withthe NationaDisaster Manage-
ment Organization (NADMQhat operateshrough itsregional and district
offices,local DRR platformand NADMO volunteers

CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION/DISASTER RISK MANAGEMENT

National
Development
Planning
Commission,
NDPC

National Climate
Change Committee

Ministry of Lands and Ministry of Finance Ministry of Environment, Ministry of the Interior
Natural Resources Science, Technology and
Innovation

Natural Resources,

Environment and National and o @
Ministry of Food and Climate Change Environmental NADMO (Regional Regional E a.na -
Agriculture (NREC) Unit Protection Agency offices) Disaster Risk anron:\en a
Platforms onvention

Coordinating
Authority
= Environmental and
natural Resources
MMDAs Advisory Council
* Fire department

* NGOs and
Environmental NADMO (District Local disaster Development
Management offices and EPA District office Risk Platforms Partners
Committee Volunteers)

Figure5: Overview main stakeholders in CCA/DDR.
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7. Conclusion

The stakeholder mapping presented in the paper provides an overvidwe of
mainactors involved irthe four keydomains in relation to water and urban
governance.

Fgure6 summarses the organizational $aip of the four research areas and
highlightsthose stakeholdersvho have multiple responsibilities in different
sectors.Somestakeholders are majoplayerswithin the sectors Amongst
others, he Town and Country Planning Department, the Environmental Pro-
tection Agency and local MMDAs have multiple responsibilities within the in-
vestigated sectorsnamely wetland management, climate change adapta-
tion, disaster risk reductiomand land use planning managememRurther-
more, while these sectors seem more interlinked in terms of stakeholder
roles andresponsibilities, the water supply domain appears rather discon-
nectedfrom the other domainswith mainly theGWCL and CWSA as key na-
tional and regional stakeholderdowever, in practice, rokand responsibil-
ities between different agencies are often interlinked and related.

The sectors describeatorrespondto four main research areas in Water-
Power.With itsintegrative frameworkthe project aims at bringing together
multiple aspects that play a role in defining and shaping the urban water-
scape of Accra.

WATER SUPPLY ACQUATIC ECOSYSTEMS/WETLANDS CLIMATE CHANGE & ADAPTATION LAND USE PLANNING & MANAGEMENT
]
MINISTRY OF ENVIRONMENT, SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

| Town and Country Planning Department

| Environmental Protection Agency |

I
MINISTRY OF LAND AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Forestry Commission | Lands Commission Mingstry for

Chieftaincy and
Traditional
Affairs:
National House
of Chiefs

. Customary Land Customary Land

* Ghana Environmental Convention + Ghana Institute of Planners
Coordinating Authority * Ghana Institute of Surveyors
* Environmental and natural Resources * Ghana Real Estate Developers
Advisory Council Associates (GREDA)
* NGOs and Development partners

MINISTRY OF WATER WORKS AND HOUSING

GWCL WRC
Regional and (Decentralized

District River Basin

Offices Offices)

CWSA
Regional
Offices

National
Wetland
Committee

* Center for African Wetlands
* Ghana Wildlife Society
* NGOs and Development Partners

= CONIWAS and other NGOs
* Development partners

Ministry of Local Government and Rural Development
MMDAs

Figure6: Combined overview of the different sectors.
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8. Appendix

WATER SUPPLY

Name

Functiors and Responsibilities

Reference

Ministry of Water,
Works and Housing, We
ter Directorate

The MWWHRSs responsible for the overalloticy formulation, planning, coordination and harmonizatig
monitoring and evaluation of programs for water supply and wagsourcesnanagement

http://mww.mwrwh.gov.gh/

Water Resource Com-
mission

The WRC was established in 1996. The Commission is responsible for the overall regulation and man
of water resources in Ghana and for policy coordination in relaticthém. According to Act 522, the con
mission is in charge of:
(a) proposng comprehensive plans for thetilization, conservation, development and improveme
of water resources;
(b) initiating, controlingandcoordinatngactivities connected with the developmeahnd utilization of
water resources;
(©)
(d)

GoG,Water Resource Commission A
1996, Act 552

Ghana Water Company
Limited(GWCL)

grantingwater rights;

collecing, collaing, stoingand disseminahgdata or information on water resources in Ghana
GWCL is thseole recognized urban water provider. The pulasvned company is responsible for the over
planning, construction, rehabilitation, extension and improvement of about 80 water supply schemes
ban areas (localities with more than 5000 people). Femtore, the GWCloverseeghe provision of com-
mercial and operational serviseelatedto water supply for domestic, commercial and industrial uses.

Alba, Bartels (2016): Featuring wat
infrastructure, provision and access
the Greater Accra Metropolita Area.
WaterPower Working Paper 6

Community Water and
Sanitation Agency
(CWSA

TheCWSA has the mandate to facilitate the provision of safe drinking water and related sanitation s
to rural communities and small towns in Ghana. The AgenpportsMunicipal, Metropolitan and Distric
Assemblies in the formulation and implementation of District Water and Sanitation Plans (DWSP).

GoG Community Water and Sanita-
tion Agency Act 1998, Act 564
Alba, Bartels (2016)

Municipal and District
Assemblies

MMDAs facilitate the provision of water in small towns and rural areas in Ghana. They approve proje
plans relatedo the provision of water. Each District Assemditpuldestablish a Water and Sanitation Ma
agement Team to manage water or sanitatfacilitiesfor the benefit of a community.

Public Utility Regulatory
Commission

ThePURC was established in 1998 with Act 538 as an independent regulatory agency in charge of r¢
public service provisigmncluding the provision of water supplyhePURC monit@the performancestand-
ardsof utility companies, approverates for utility services and monitequality standards.

PURC, 2005, Urban Water Tariff Poli
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Ghana Standard Author

TheGhana Standards Authority (GS#ymerly Ghanastandard Boardwas established in 1973 (Standar
Authority Act, 1973 NRCD 1%8)set national standards and ensuguality of goods. With respect to drink

http://www.gsa.gov.gh/

ity ing water, the GSA is responsible for setting drinking water standards in Ghana. The most recefards
for drinking water are the Ghana Standards FDGS117613.
WaterHealth The company WaterHedlestablished the first water centres (also called water kibskGAMA. Raw wate http://www.waterhealth.com

is treated in decentralized purification syste on-site, andresidents can buy treated water in buckets
rectly from the kiosk. In GAMAvater stations arenostlyfoundin periurban areas.

Safe Water Network

TheSafe Water Network isreNGO that facilitate and operate water kiosls (calledwater stationsby the
NGQ in Ghana since 2009. The statiarsethe same system as the os&om WaterHealth and are als
constructed mainly in petirban GAMA. The first stations where established through WaterHealth.

http://lwww.safewaternet-
work.org/countriesregions/ghana

Domestic Water Ven-
dors

Domestic vendors include individuals who sell water within their own house or compound. Bwadign
separate between neighbourhood retailers, neighbourhood sellers and bulk water vendors. The firs
water in bucketseither from a pipewater household connection from GWCL, a piped connection from g
town supply systems, or from water tkars. The secongroup,neighbourhood sellersellwater in buckets
from their own source, for instance groundwater through a private borehole or well. The d¢ininalp, bulk
water vendors, include private individuals who sell water in bulk quantitiesdormercial purposes, mainl
to water tankers.

Alba, Bartels (2016)

Mobile Water Providers

Mobile water providers include private individuals or organized groups who purchase, deliver and s¢
guantities of water (minimum of 2,000 litres) to househsldhstitutions and companies.

Alba, Bartels (2016)

Coalition of NGOs in
Water and Sanitation
(CONIWAS)

CONIWAS brings together different NGOs in the water and sanitatiegesuibr in Ghana. They aim to bui
a strong partnership between stakeholdeirscluding government departments and cisciety to improve

the water and sanitation for urban, peurban and rural areas of Ghana.

http://coniwasghana.org/about.php

Name

Functiors and Responsibilities

Reference

Ministry of Environ-
ment, Science and TecH
nology and Innovation
(MESTI)

The MESTI is responsible for environmental sustainability, planning and sustainable development of
settlements, science and technology.

mesti.gov.gh/ourmandateobjectives

Townand Country Plan-
ning Department
(TCPD)

The TCPD is a technical department under Miristry of Environment, Science and Technoldgyas
initially established in 1945 by the Town and Country Planning Act, 1945 (Cags 84)own and Countr
PlanningBoard. The Board was abolished by Tleevn and Country Planning (Amendment) Act of 1960
33) andtransfered to the TCPDThe TCPD is responsible for planning and management of the or
development of human settlements k&g.providinglayout plans The head office ahe TCPD is in Accr
It alsohas branch offices at theegions and in thalistricts. At the locallevel TCPD is, in line with Loc

GoG,Town and Country Planning Ag
1945 (Cap. 84)
http://www.tcpghana.gov.gh
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Government Act, 1993 (Act 462)erged with the Department of Parks and Gardens to form the Phy|
Planning DepartmenCurrently a Land Use and Planning Bill is being processed that will repzé4.

Ministry of Lands and
Natural Resources
(MLNR)

The MLNR is responsible for sustainable management and utilization of Ghana's lands, forests, wil
mineral resources. Inthelandsectorh e ML NR i s currently respons
Admi ni str at i o tongRernopjojeat that ainfs to AeFo)m,the Eand sector.

http://www.mlnr.gov.gh
http://www.ghanalap.gov.gh

Lands Commission

The Lands Commission is an agency under the Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources (MLNR).
mission was established by Articles 25865 of the 199Zonstitution andsupportedby the Lands Com
mission Act 2008, Act76The Lands Commission manageblfr lands and any other laneoseowner-

shipisvested in the PresidenfAmong other responsibilitieshe Lands Commission is responsible for

establishment of dand information systemcadaste}, the supervision of surveying and demarcation
land, the registration of titleto land andfor facilitatingthe acquisition of land on behalf tie government.

Thisfunction appliesto both public and customary land. The Commission has its headgsartéccra and
branch officesn the Regions.

G0G.2008,Lands Commission Act, A
767

Ministry of Chieftaincy
and Traditional Affairs
(MCTA)

Theconstitution of 1996 guarantees the institution of chieftaincy (Article 2TBe MCTA is responsible f
formulating policies for the Chieftaincy Sector and, in consultation with the National Development Pl3
Commission, to evaluate the performance of the sector.

GoG, 1996Constitutionof the Republic
of Ghana, Act 527
http://www.mcta.gov.gh/about.htm

National House of
Chiefs, Regional House
of Chiefs

The National and Regional Hogsd# Chiefsare agencies under the Ministry of Chieftaincy and Traditig
Affairs (MCTA). The establishmentloé National House othiefs is enshrined in the Constitutiaf 1996.
The constitution states* A b i | | affecting the institution
without prior reference to the National House of ChiefsArticle 106 (3). The National House of Chi
consists of five paramourthiefs from each region elected by the Regional House of each region. The
has advisory function in regds to chieftaincy matters and is mandated to codify the customary law
come to aunified system of rules of customary law. The House alsonmiaints a “ Nat i ona
and any changén the status of a chiefnustbe reportedviathe Regional House of Chiefs to the Natio
House of Chiefslhe Regional Housef Chiefs undertake the compilation of the customary laws and |
of succesion in the regions and make recommendations for the resolution of chieftaincy disputes
region.However the National House of Chiefs has original jurisdiction in ma#téecting chieftaincy that
cannot be resolved by the Regional House of Chiéfe.Headquarters of the National House of Chiefs
Kumasi.

GoG, 2008, Chieftaincy Aétct 759
GoG, 1996, Constitution, Act 527.

Customary land custodil
ans

The Constitution of 1996 states t hat stdoloh beha#f
of, and in trust for the subjects of the sto
Chiefs and in GAMA also family heagal®e the custodiasover customary land (i.e. stool and family lan
They “ exeauwtve rjnuadiiccei aaln,d | a n d(Kasangaa&kKetey,e2001,18¥fou thec
benefit of their subjects (i.e. the customary group) and together with a council of €8ackeyfid_enoch,
2014) Since around 80% of the land in Ghana #amary land(Kasanga &otey, 2001, pl3)traditional

GoG, 1996, Constitution tfie Republic
of Ghana, Act 527;

Kasanga, K. and N
Management in Ghana: Building on T
dition and
http://pubs.iied.org/pdfs/900211Epdf
?p (accessed 15 March 2015):
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authorities have a significant role in land management in Ghideaerthelessgustomary land holding an
management istill interlinked with state agencies (see Landsnnission).

SackeyfieLenoch, N(2014) The politics
of chieftaincy: Authority and propert
in colonial Ghana, 1920950. Roches
ter, NY: University of Rochester Press

Ministry of Local Gov-
ernment and Rural De-
velopment

The Ministry of Local Government and Rural Development is responsible for administering the prog
decentralizedgovernment. The Urban Development Unit of the Ministry is imporfantand use planning
The ministry has developed the National UrbatidgoFramework of 2012,

http://www.mlgrd.gov.gh/

Metropolitan, Municipal
and District Assemblies
(MMDAS)

MMDAs are responsible for overall district plannifrgthis function, theyresponsible for the creation of
“district developmentpl a n " , ispselscribediandnustbe approved by the NDPC. MMDASs are alsg
sponsiblefor enfordng the approved district development plathey mayfor instance® pr o hi b i
remove, pull down or alter so as to bring into conformity with the approved plan, a phgsealopment
which does not conform to the approved plan, or the abatement, removal, demolition or alteration of
is necessary for the i mplementation of an afj
issue development and building peits. They candemolish buildingswhen the developer does not holg
these permits. Communities can prepare a sligtrict or local action plan with the assistaof MMDAS.
The plan has to be approved the MMDAs (Act 480). Key departments within the Mid@sdingland
use planning are the works department and the physical planning department.

GoG, 1993Local Government Act, A
462;

GoG. 1994National Development Plan
ning System Act, (Act 480)

National Development
Planning Commission
(NDPC)

The NDPC is the national coordinating bodyhef decentralized national development plannisgstem
i.e. of all development planning agencies. The commission was established by Articles 86 and 87 of t
Constitution and wasupportedby the NationaDevelopment Planning Commission Act 1994, Act 479.
NDPC monitas; evaluates and coordinates development policies, programend projects and prepase
broad national development plans. In additidghey supervise Metropolitan, Municipal, and Districis&m-
blies (MMDAS) in the preparation of district developing plans (see above). The NDiPColfice in Accra

GoG, 1994National Development Plan
ning Commission Act, Act 479

Customary Land Secre
tariats(CLS)

CustomaryLand Secretariats are establishedn der t he “Land Administr
2009, 37 CLSsgere established in Ghana. In communities where CLSs are in, i@geare the institution
in charge for land administration and the management of customary land holdingsol€lod CLSs include
establiding registries to record customary land allocations and adopting simple land ussitdin the
customary area CLSs are supposed to link customary land institutions to the public land agerdietng
the Lands Commission onég Town and Country Planning Department. To establish acGhnunities
have to writea proposal to the LAP.

Biitir, S. B., & Nara, B. B. (2016). The
of Customary Land Secretariats in p
moting good local lad governance in
Ghana. Land Use Policy, 50, 5286.

Ghana Institute
of Planners (GIP)

TheGIP is amssociation oprofessionablanners in Ghana. The Institute has two divisions: the Policy |
ning and Spatial Planning divisidiheGIP hadts office in Accra.

http://www.ghanainstituteofplan-
ners.com/

Ghana Institute of Sur-

veyors (GHIS)

The GHIS is “a source of professional advice

http://www.ghisonline.org/
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Ghana Real Estate De
velopers Associates
(GREDA)

GREDA is an association of real estate developers in Ghana. GREBAffias in Accra.

WETLAND MANAGEMENT

http://www.gredaghana.org/index.htm

Name

Functiors and Responsibilities

Reference

Ministry of Lands and
Natural Resources
(MLNR)

See MLNR in the sectitend use planning and management
Together withthe National Wetland Committeehé ministry (i.ethe Wildlife Divisiondeveloped & Na-
tional Wetland Conservation Strategy and Action Plan (Z0@71 6 ) ”

Ministry of Lands, Forestrynd Mines
(2007): Managing Ghana's Wetlands
National Wetland Conservation Strate
and Action Plan (2002016)

Forestry Commission

The Forestry Commission is a commission under the Ministry of Lands and Natural ResourcesTWL
Commission was established by the Forestry Commission Act 1999, Aéingatlg other tasksthe com-
mission is responsible for the regulation of forestry and timber resources and the management of prg
areas and forest reserves.

GoG, 199%.orestryCommission Act, Ag
571

Wildlife Division

TheWildlife Division is a divisioof the ForestryCommissionlt is responsible for the management of pr
tected areasincluding the five wetlands that are protected under the Ramsar convention. The divisig
offices in all Ramsar Sites. They support the implementation of the national wetland conservation st

MLNR (2007): Ma n a
lands: a National Wetland Conservati
Strategy and Action Plan (20@70 1 6

Ministry of Water Re-
sources, Workand
Housing

See the ministry in the sectiomater supply
The ministry (.,etheWat er Resour ce
ing Freshwater Bodies in

Commi ssion) devel ope
Ghana”, 2011

Water Resource Com-
mission (WRC)

See the WRC in the sectiarater supply

Ministry of Environ-
ment, Science, Technol
ogy and Innovations

See the MESTI in the sectilamd use planning and management

Ghana Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA

The EPA is an Agency under the Ministry of Environment, Science and Technology (M&&3 Igstab-
lished by the Environmental Protection Agency Act 1994 (Act 490). The AgersgstdyMinistryon the
formulation of environmental policiedt has regonal and district offices. The head office is in Accra.

GoG, Environmatal Protection Agency
Act, Act 490.

Town and Country Plan
ning Department (TCPLC

See TCPD in the sectilamd use planning and management

National Wetland Com-
mittee

The National Wetland Committegasinaugurated in 2004 and consists of 21 members. The committ
responsibldor reviewingthe legislation and institutional setp regardingwetland management in Ghang
Moreover,the committee advises and suppsithe Wildlife Division on the implementation of the W¢

lands Strategy and Action Plan.

http://www.ramsar.org/news/ghanas
nationalwetlandsconservationrstrat-
egy-revised



http://www.ramsar.org/news/ghanas-national-wetlands-conservation-strategy-revised
http://www.ramsar.org/news/ghanas-national-wetlands-conservation-strategy-revised
http://www.ramsar.org/news/ghanas-national-wetlands-conservation-strategy-revised
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http://www.ghanaweb.com/Ghana-
HomePage/NewsArchive/Protectet-
landsthey-supportlife-Fobih64656

Customary land custodil
ans

See customary land custodians under sectand use planning and management

Ghana wildlife society

TheGhana wildlife society is the national branch of Birdlife International Africa. Ihis@overnmental
organization. Amongt other responsibilitiesthey monitorwater birds andvetlands.

http://www.ghanawildlifesociety.org/

Centre for African Wet-
lands

Name

The Center for African Wetlands, established in 2@00osted by the University of Ghana. The center a
to contribute to the preservation of the (values of) wetlands. The center works on wetlands in 12

African Countries, including Ghana.

CLIMATE CHANGIBAPTATION AND DISASTER RISK REDUCTION

Functiors and Responsibilities

http://www.ug.edu.gh/africanwetlands/

Reference

Ministry of the Interior

The Ministry of the Interior is responsibler ensuring internal security and maintaing law and order in
Ghana.

http://www.mint.gov.gh/

National Disaster Man-
agement Organization
(NADMO)

TheNADMO is an Agency under the Ministry of the Interiibis the main government agency responsih
for the management and coordination of disasters risk reduction, climate change risk manageme
emergencies in Ghana. The organization was created in 1996. Under the supervisieiN&DMO plat-
forms for DRRave beerestablished at national and regional levels.

GoG. 1996 National Disaster Manage
ment Organization Act Act 517
http://www.nadmo.gov.gh/

Ministry of Finance

The Ministry of Financalso referred as Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (M@HF&R}es and
manage financial resources in Ghana

http://www.mofep.gov.gh/

Natural Resources, Env
ronment andClimate
Change (NREC) Unit

NREC is anit under the Ministry of Financdt oversees, coordinates and managhs financing of and
supportfor natural resourcesglimate change and green economy activities. It was established in 20
coordinate all forns of support (domestic and internationéby climate-changerelated activities in Ghang
Thisisto avoid potential overlaps and duplication of effaresrxdabove all to distribute resources to whe
they are most neededTheunit alsofacilitates the maistreaming of climate change and green econo
issues into national planning to promote sustainable development.

Asante, F. A. et g2015) Climate chang
finance in Ghana. Available online :
http://www.mofep.gov.gh/sites/de-
fault/files/docs/ClimateFinanceStudy
Report.pdf

Ministry of Environ-
ment, Science, Technol
ogy and Innovation
(MESTI)

See MESTI in the sectitand use planning and management

Environmental Protec-

tion Agency (EPA)

See the EPA in the sectiaretland management

Sova CA. et al. (2014): Climate Change
Adaptation Policy in Ghana: Priorities f



http://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewsArchive/Protect-wetlands-they-support-life-Fobih-64656
http://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewsArchive/Protect-wetlands-they-support-life-Fobih-64656
http://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewsArchive/Protect-wetlands-they-support-life-Fobih-64656
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The EPA represents Ghana’s focal point for climate change convgatidnnitiatives ashe technical im-
plementation agency of MESTI.

the Agriculture Sector. Working Pap
No. 68. CGIAR Research Program on
mate Change, Agriculture and Food §
curity (CCAFS). Copenhagen, Denm
Available online at:
www.ccafs.cgiar.org

Ministry of Food and Ag
riculture (MOFA)

The Ministry of Food and Agriculture (MOFA) is the lead agency and focal point of the Governn
Ghana, responsible for developing and executing policies and strategies for the agriculture sector
the context of a coordinated national soed@ononic growth and development agendslOFA iscurrently
building thecapacity of extension staff #ie regional and district levels to kable to appropriately main
stream climate change in their extension messages. At the policy level, asteg®ing taken tqg
develop limate change adaptati@ndmitigation strategy with the aim emfhancing the expecte
outcomes of the implementation of the Meditifierm Agriculture Sector Investment PIMETASIP).

Ministry of Enwionment Science, Tech
nology andnnovation(2013):Ghana Na-
tional Climate Change Policvailable
online at: https://s3.amazo-
naws.com/ndpe
static/ CACHES/NEWS/2015/07/22//GH
na+Climate+Change+Policy.pdf

Ministry of Lands and
Natural Resources
(MLNR)

See MLNR in the sectidend use planning and management

The Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources (MLNR) is the lead national entity responsible for over
sight and direction of REDD+ activities in Ghana. The National REDD+ Workinge&adilighed in 2009
provides support to MLNR. The Ministry is also represented at the National Climate Change Con
The REDD+ secretariat at the Forestry Commission serves as the secretariat for the National REDD+
Group and coordinates the iplementation of REDD+ readiness activities as outlined in the National R
Preparation Proposal (RP) with support provided by the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF)
World Bank

Ministry of Environment Science, Tec
nology and Innovation (.3): Ghana Na|
tional Climate Change Policy

National and Regional
Disaster RisReduction
(DRRPlatforms

In response to the United Nations recommendations under the Hyogo Framework for Action, the N
Disaster Management Organization of Ghana (NADKKIQblished a national, and several subnatio
platforms for disaster risk management (DRM). Theadqims are comprised of govemment officials, staff
members of international organizations as well as representatives from academia and the private
Their official mandate is to implement disaster management policies with the support of Technical Ag
Committees for the identification, monitoring and assessment of hazards.

National Climate Chang
Committee (NCCC)

The National Climate Changerimittee (NCCC) is an intergovernmental committee comgjsf 20 mem-
bers representing ministries, departments and agencies (MDAS), civil society and development pg
TheNCCC works as an advisory body in relation to the development of the GhatiafeNalimate Chang
Policy.

Ministry of Environment Science, Tec
nology and Innovation (2013): Ghana N
tional Climate Change Policy

National Development
Planning Commission
(NDPC)

See NDPC in the sectitamd use planning and management

NDPC, workingn close collaboration with EPA, ME&mtl MOFEP, has ensured the reflection of clim

change issues in the Mediuirerm Development Policy Framework (GSGDA: -Z018). As part of itg

Ministry of Environment Science, Tec
nology and Innovation (2013): Ghana N
tional Climate Change Policy
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mandate, NDPC has translated climate change issues into planningmgsdahd subsequently trained g
the Metropolitan, Municipal and District Assemblies, and in particular the newly created districts, of
to mainstream climate change issues into development plans. Working with the Africa Adaptatio
gramme at EPA, NI with the Fisc@lecentralizatiordnit of MOFEP has developed an indicator on clin
change for the District Function@rganizationaAssessment Tool (FOAT). The FOAT is an assessme
used to determine the quantum of funds released to the disti€n the monitoring side, NPDC in coll
oration with all the sectors ensures the development indicators (including climate change) are
streamed into the national monitoring and evaluation plan to guide implementaditosector and district
level

Ghana Environmental

Conventions nation unit for managing the international environmental conventions signed by Ghaokding the
Coordinating Authority | United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)
(GECCA)

The Ghana Environmental Conventions Coordinatindnésity (GECCAjas been establisheds a coordi-

Sova et al. 2014 (see above)

Environmentabnd Nat-
ural Resources Advisor
Council (ENRAC)

The Environmental and Natural Resources Advisory Council (ENRAC) is an interministerial advis
with members from government, labour, business and civil society. It is chaired by the Vice Presi
Ghana. ENRAC advises high level decisialkers on environmental issues.

Environmental
Management
Committees

TheGovernment of Ghanhas established an integrated environmental planning arashagement systerm
with a particular focus on desertification contrak a national adaptation actioThe system includes th
National Desertification Committee (DC); Regional Environmental Management Committee (REM
trict Environmental Management Committees (DEMCs); and GoritynEnvironmental Management Con
mittees (CEMC).

G h a n &atisnal Reporting to the
United Nations Commission @Gustaina-
ble Development (CSD) on Desertifi
tion. Available online at
http://www.un.org/esa/agenda2l/nat-
linfo/countr/ghana/desertification.pd
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